IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT
FILED

v.

APR 10 2015

PAUL MACABEO, Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B248316, from Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles, Case No. YA084963, Hon. Mark Arnold

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Karen Hunter Bird State Bar # 119890 Bird & Bird, A Law Corporation 3424 Carson Street, Suite 460

Torrance, CA 90503 Tel: (310) 371-7711 Fax: (310) 371-7733 hb@birdandbirdlaw.com

STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

The trial court denied Appellant Paul Macabeo's motion pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5 to exclude evidence from an illegal search.

Mr. Macabeo then pled nolo contendere to a violation of Penal Code section 311.11, subdivision (a), and was placed on probation.

Mr. Macabeo's Notice of Appeal specified that he was appealing the denial of his suppression motion and, pursuant to Rule of Court 8.304, subdivision (b)(4), the trial court's ruling is appealable without the necessity of a certificate of probable cause.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Officers saw Mr. Macabeo ride his bicycle through a stop sign late at night, and pulled him over for a possible traffic infraction. One officer questioned and frisked Mr. Macabeo. A second officer searched Mr. Macabeo's cell phone and found sexually explicit photographs of girls under the age of 18, for which Mr. Macabeo was then arrested. The lower courts upheld the cell phone search as incident to Mr. Macabeo's arrest.

The issues before this Court are:

(1) Does the "search incident to arrest" exception to the warrant requirement permit officers to conduct full custodial searches based solely on the fact that they have probable cause for a minor traffic infraction, or must an actual arrest have occurred or be underway?

(2) Does the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule, as articulated in *Davis v. United States* (2001) 564 U.S. ___ [131 S.Ct. 2419, 180 L.Ed.2d 285], permit the prosecution to rely on evidence it obtained through what it has conceded was an unconstitutional search of Mr. Macabeo's cell phone?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 19, 2012, the District Attorney filed a complaint, charging Mr. Macabeo with possession of matter depicting a minor engaging in sexual conduct in violation of Penal Code section 311.11, subdivision (a), and possession of a smoking device in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11364.1, subdivision (a)(1). (1CT 18.2) Police officers discovered the evidence that led to the first charge by searching Mr. Macabeo's cell phone, which they took from him after he "rolled" through a stop sign late at night on his bicycle. (1CT 52:12-16, 60:13-25, 79:1-13.) Mr. Macabeo moved to suppress the evidence gathered through the search of his cell phone, pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5. (1CT 20.)

During a preliminary hearing that served as a hearing on the suppression motion, the court heard the testimony of Torrance Police Department Detective Hayes. (1CT 50:1-88:18.) Detective Hayes was the

¹ Health and Safety Code section 11364.1 was repealed effective January 1, 2015, although it was substantially re-codified at section 11364.

² The clerk's transcript and the reporter's transcript are in two volumes,

officer who made contact with Mr. Macabeo. (1CT 53:9-12.) His testimony, aided by a transcription of the recording of Mr. Macabeo's initial contact with officers, which was also entered into evidence, provided the factual basis for the suppression motion. (1CT 58:6-15; the transcription is included at 1CT 112-117, and is appended to this Brief.) The parties also stipulated that Detective Hayes' partner, Officer Raymond, activated and searched Mr. Macabeo's phone. (1CT 89:7-12.)

The court denied Mr. Macabeo's suppression motion. (1CT 104:23, 108:27-28.) The District Attorney did not pursue the smoking device charge and subsequently filed a one-count information alleging the violation of Penal Code section 311.11(a). (1CT 109:21-110:2, 122.) Mr. Macabeo pleaded nolo contendere, and received five years of probation. (1CT 127-130.) He appealed the denial of the suppression motion, which the Court of Appeal affirmed. (1CT 131, 2CT 58, *People v. Macabeo* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 486 [177 Cal.Rptr.3d 311].)³

³ As set forth on pages 8-9, *infra*, the Court of Appeal at first remanded the case for procedural reasons. Mr. Macabeo's plea was set aside and he refiled his suppression motion, which the Superior Court denied on the basis of the evidence introduced at the preliminary hearing. Afterwards, Mr. Macabeo re-entered his plea and filed a new notice of appeal. The Court of Appeal then decided the case on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Traffic Stop and Terry Frisk

In the early morning hours of Thursday, July 19, 2012, Detective Hayes and Officer Raymond of the Torrance Police Department were on patrol in a marked police car. (1CT 50:23-26, 51:6-21, 64:15-21.) At about 1:40 a.m., they saw Paul Macabeo riding a bicycle near the intersection of Artesia Boulevard and Gramercy Place in Torrance. (1CT 51:15-52:7.) As Detective Hayes testified at the preliminary hearing, Mr. Macabeo was riding at a normal speed, 5 to 10 miles per hour, and there were few—if any—other vehicles on the road. (1CT 65:1-22.) The officers followed him for about 50 to 75 feet with their headlights off. (1CT 64:22-25, 65:26-28, 69:2-13.) Detective Hayes said that they saw Mr. Macabeo ride through a stop sign without stopping. (1CT 52:12-16.) The officers then activated their lights and pulled Mr. Macabeo over for violating Vehicle Code section 22450 (failure to stop at a stop sign). (1CT 53:2-5, 67:28-68:1.) Detective Hayes testified that he intended to give Mr. Macabeo either a verbal warning or a citation requiring a promise to appear later in court. (1CT 80:27-81:13.)

During the traffic stop, Mr. Macabeo complied with all of the officers' commands and answered their questions. When the officers activated their lights, Mr. Macabeo pulled his bike to the curb. (1CT 68:17-19.) As the transcript of the encounter shows, Mr. Macabeo identified

himself, and explained that he was on his way to an AM/PM market. (1CT 113.) Detective Hayes asked Mr. Macabeo whether he was on probation. (1CT 113.) Mr. Macabeo first replied that he was, but then clarified that his case had already been dismissed, he did not have a probation officer, and his last arrest had taken place several years earlier. (1CT 113-114.)

Detective Hayes said that he would check Mr. Macabeo's arrest history. (1CT 116.) As Detective Hayes later confirmed from the computer in the patrol car, Mr. Macabeo's felony probation had ended a few months earlier in April of 2012. (1CT 73:7-11, 86:28-87:8.)

While questioning Mr. Macabeo, Detective Hayes instructed him to keep his hands away from his waist and pockets, and thought that Mr. Macabeo "was really fidgety." (1CT 59:13-20.) As a result, Detective Hayes conducted a pat down of Mr. Macabeo, and asked him if he had anything illegal on him, including any weapons. (1CT 59:13-26.) Mr. Macabeo said that he did not. (1CT 59:13-26, 114-115.) Officer Hayes then asked, "[y]ou have no problem me taking stuff out of your pockets?" and Mr. Macabeo replied, "[n]o, go ahead." (1CT 115.) Detective Hayes took several items from Mr. Macabeo's pockets, including Mr. Macabeo's cell phone, which he then handed to his partner, Officer Raymond. (1CT 60:13-61:2.) Detective Hayes sat Mr. Macabeo on the curb and continued speaking with him for about 5 to 10 minutes while Officer Raymond searched the phone. (1CT 61:15-62:16, 77:15-22.)

B. The Cell Phone Search

Neither Detective Hayes nor Officer Raymond asked Mr. Macabeo for consent to search the contents of his phone. (1CT 76:19-77:13.)

Nevertheless, while Detective Hayes questioned Mr. Macabeo, Officer Raymond searched the phone. (1CT 60:22-27, 77:14-22.)

Some time later, Detective Hayes looked up and saw Officer Raymond gesturing to him. (1CT 61:27-62:3.) Officer Raymond told Detective Hayes that the phone did not contain any drug-related text messages, but there was a folder with sexually explicit photographs of girls under the age of 18. (1CT 62:7-24.)

C. Mr. Macabeo's Arrest

Officer Hayes returned to Mr. Macabeo and told him to put both of his hands on his head. (1CT 117.) Mr. Macabeo asked, "[w]hy am I being arrested? Am I being arrested?" (1CT 117.) Officer Hayes replied, "I'll explain everything in a second. Do not stand up; you don't want to do that." (1CT 117.) The officers handcuffed Mr. Macabeo and read him his *Miranda* rights. (1CT 79:11-16.) It was only then that Detective Hayes used the computer in his patrol car and confirmed that Mr. Macabeo was no longer on felony probation. (1CT 86:20-87:8.)

D. Proceedings in the Superior Court

On July 19, 2012, the District Attorney charged Mr. Macabeo with possession of matter depicting a minor engaging in sexual conduct in

violation of Penal Code section 311.11(a), and possession of a smoking device in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11364.1(a)(1). (1CT 18.) Mr. Macabeo was neither arrested nor charged with failing to stop at a stop sign.

On August 17, 2012, Mr. Macabeo moved to suppress the evidence derived from the search of his cell phone, which the trial court denied. (1CT 104:23, 108:27-28.) The court stated that it was "not looking at this as a probation search" and that "if this is a probation search, it's an unlawful probation search." (1CT 89:20-21, 90:11-13.) As the judge pointed out, even if Mr. Macabeo had said he was on probation, "[a]ll persons who are on probation do not necessarily have a search and seizure condition. [¶] I haven't heard any testimony about whether the defendant had a search and seizure condition." (1CT 90:5-9.) "Correct," replied the Deputy District Attorney. (1CT 90:10.)⁴ The court also declined to characterize the search as a consent search, stating that "[c]onsent is not relevant to my analysis." (1CT 103:2.)

Instead, the court concluded that the search was permissible because Mr. Macabeo could have been arrested, even though he was not arrested at the time of the search:

⁴ Penal Code section 1203.1, subdivision (a), provides a sentencing court with discretion to set the terms and conditions of probation.

He could have been arrested for failing to stop at the stop sign. The fact that the officer didn't do that is irrelevant because it is the objective state of the case, not the subjective state of mind of the officer. Since the defendant could have been arrested, he could also have been subjected to a search incident to a lawful arrest. (1CT 102:18-24.)

Finally, the judge concluded that the California Supreme Court's decision in *People v. Diaz* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 84 [119 Cal.Rptr.3d 105, 244 P.3d 501] held that cell phones were among the items that could be searched incident to arrest.⁵ (1CT 103:12-16, 104:8-18.)

On October 18, 2012, the District Attorney filed an information alleging only the count of possession of matter depicting a minor engaging in sexual conduct in violation of Penal Code section 311.11(a), to which Mr. Macabeo pleaded nolo contendere. (1CT 122, 127-130.) He was sentenced to 36 days in jail (which he had already served), and five years of formal probation. (1CT 127-130.) The court stayed most of the terms and conditions of probation during the pendency of appeal. (1CT 129.)

Mr. Macabeo filed a notice of appeal. (1CT 131.)

E. First Trip to the Court of Appeal and Subsequent Superior Court Hearing

On January 3, 2013, the Court of Appeal entered an order requiring the parties to brief whether Mr. Macabeo was entitled to challenge the order denying suppression given that he had not litigated that issue beyond the

⁵ The United States Supreme Court had not yet issued its contrary decision in *Riley v. California* (2014) __ U.S. __ [134 S.Ct. 2473, 189 L.Ed.2d 430].

preliminary hearing.⁶ (See Docket, *People v. Macabeo*, No. B245511.)

Mr. Macabeo filed a notice of abandonment of appeal, and on December 3, 2012, the Court of Appeal dismissed the case. (2CT 18, 22-23.)

After remittitur, the court set aside Mr. Macabeo's plea and he refiled his suppression motion, which the Superior Court denied on the basis of the evidence introduced at the preliminary hearing. (2CT 25, 33, 35, 42, 55.) Mr. Macabeo then re-entered his plea, and filed a second notice of appeal. (2CT 55-58.)

F. Second Trip to the Court of Appeal

While Mr. Macabeo's case was pending before the Court of Appeal, but after it had been fully briefed and argued, the Supreme Court issued its decision in *Riley v. California* (2014) ___ U.S. __ [134 S.Ct. 2473, 189 L.Ed.2d 430]. In *Riley*, the Supreme Court held that "the search incident to arrest exception does not apply to cell phones" (*id.*, 134 S.Ct. at p. 2494), and that "officers must generally secure a warrant before conducting such a search" (*id.* at p. 2485). As the prosecution conceded in a letter brief, "the warrantless search of [Mr. Macabeo]'s cell phone incident to arrest has turned out to be unlawful under *Riley*." (Victoria B. Wilson, Supervising

⁶ The trial court, defense counsel, and prosecution were all under the erroneous impression that because the preliminary hearing had occurred before the same judge ultimately assigned to the case, and because that judge had already ruled on the suppression motion, there was no need to relitigate suppression at a later stage of the proceeding. (2CT 31.)

Deputy Attorney General, Letter to California Court of Appeal, *People v. Macabeo*, No. B248316, July 7, 2014, p. 1.) The prosecution nonetheless argued that the search was permissible under the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule. (*Id.* at p. 2.)

On September 3, 2014, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's denial of Mr. Macabeo's suppression motion in a published decision,

People v. Macabeo (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 486 [177 Cal.Rptr.3d 311].

The Court of Appeal recognized that Mr. Macabeo was not arrested until after officers searched his cell phone and found pictures. As the Court recounted, Detective Hayes "directed [Mr. Macabeo] to sit on the curb" while Officer Raymond searched his phone. (Id. at p. 489.) Officer Raymond called over Detective Hayes, and "informed the detective that there were no text messages on defendant's phone concerning narcotics, but he had found a picture folder" containing images that violated Penal Code section 311.11(a). (Ibid.) At that point, "Detective Hayes returned to defendant's location and placed him under arrest." (Ibid.) In upholding the cell phone search as incident to that arrest, the Court quoted extensively from the trial court's ruling at the preliminary hearing, including the judge's conclusion that Mr. Macabeo "could have been arrested for failing to stop at the stop sign." (Id. at p. 491.) "The fact that the officer didn't do that is irrelevant. . . ." (Ibid.)

The Court next rejected the argument that the officers violated Mr. Macabeo's Fourth Amendment rights because they searched him incident to an infraction for which he could not have been arrested under state law. (*Id.* at p. 494.) The Court said that this argument was foreclosed by the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Atwater v. Lago Vista* (2001) 532 U.S. 318, 354 [121 S.Ct. 1536, 149 L.Ed.2d 549], as well as this Court's decision in *People v. McKay* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 601, 607 [117 Cal. Rptr. 2d 236, 41 P.3d 59]. (*Macabeo, supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 492-94.)

The Court of Appeal acknowledged that in *Riley* the United States Supreme Court had held that, absent an emergency, officers must obtain a warrant to search the digital content of a cell phone incident to arrest. (*Id.* at p. 488.) However, it concluded that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule permitted admission of the evidence anyway because "at the time Officer Raymond searched the cell phone, the search was authorized by the California Supreme Court decision in *Diaz*." (*Id.* at p. 496.)

On October 14, 2014, Mr. Macabeo filed his petition for review, which was granted on November 25, 2015.

ARGUMENT

After stopping Mr. Macabeo for riding his bicycle through a stop sign on an empty street late at night, officers temporarily detained him and then searched his cell phone without a warrant. The lower courts incorrectly upheld the search as incident to arrest on the basis that the officers had probable cause to believe that Mr. Macabeo had committed a traffic infraction. But this expansive reading of the scope of the search incident to arrest exception is out of step with the United States Supreme Court's insistence that the exception be interpreted in keeping with its underlying justifications. The search incident to arrest exception is predicated on an arrestee's reduced expectation of privacy, and is justified to protect officer safety from the danger that "flows from the fact of the arrest" (*United States v. Robinson* (1973) 414 U.S. 218, 234 fn. 5 [94 S.Ct. 467, 38 L.Ed.2d 427]), as well as to prevent suspects from concealing or destroying evidence needed for prosecution.

The objective evidence shows that at the time of the search,
Mr. Macabeo had not been arrested, nor was any arrest underway. Absent
an arrest, Mr. Macabeo did not have the reduced expectation of privacy
associated with being an arrestee, and the search of his cell phone cannot be
justified as necessary to protect officer safety or preserve evidence. Instead,
the officers detained him and conducted an exploratory search of his cell
phone, which turned up evidence of an unrelated crime for which

Mr. Macabeo was then arrested. This was not a search incident to a lawful arrest; it was an arrest incident to an unlawful search.

Moreover, recasting the search incident to arrest exception into one that permits full custodial searches merely on probable cause to believe that any infraction has been committed would vastly expand the universe of police-citizen encounters that could trigger a full custodial search. Over 5 million infractions are recorded each year in California—4 times the number of felonies and misdemeanors combined—averaging more than 1 infraction for every 8 residents. (See *infra*, footnote 21, page 44.) The prosecution's proposed expansion would potentially infringe the privacy of millions of Californians and undermine efforts to build trust between law enforcement officers and the communities they serve.

Finally, contrary to the conclusion of the Court of Appeal, the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule as articulated in *Davis v. United States* (2001) 564 U.S. ___ [131 S.Ct. 2419, 180 L.Ed.2d 285] does not permit the prosecution to rely on the evidence it found on Mr. Macabeo's cell phone. (*Macabeo, supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 496.) In *Davis*, the United States Supreme Court held that the exclusionary rule does not apply to "searches conducted in objectively reasonable reliance on binding appellate precedent." (*Davis, supra*, 131 S.Ct. at pp. 2423-2424.) Although the Court of Appeal held that this Court's decision in *People v. Diaz* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 84 [119 Cal.Rptr.3d 105, 244 P.3d 501]] constituted binding

appellate precedent, this conclusion is incorrect because *Diaz* involved a valid search incident to arrest, but there was no valid search incident to arrest here. Moreover, even if this Court now expands the search incident to arrest doctrine to permit a search pursuant to a future or hypothetical arrest, *Diaz* would not have been binding judicial precedent prior to that expansion.

I. THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF MR. MACABEO'S CELL PHONE VIOLATED THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

In concluding that the officers conducted a search incident to an arrest, the courts below incorrectly held that probable cause of a law violation is sufficient to trigger the search incident to arrest exception.

Warrantless searches are presumptively unreasonable, and exceptions to the warrant requirement are to be narrowly drawn. The exception for searches incident to arrest comes into play when an individual is restrained to initiate a criminal prosecution, but it is inapplicable here because Mr. Macabeo was not under arrest for prosecution on the traffic offense when his phone was searched. In a trio of recent cases, the U.S. Supreme Court has emphasized that the contours of the search incident to arrest exception must be tethered to the justifications for it. (*Knowles v. Iowa* (1998) 525 U.S. 113 [119 S.Ct. 484, 142 L.Ed.2d 492]; *Arizona v. Gant* (2009) 556 U.S. 332 [129 S.Ct. 1710, 173 L.Ed.2d 485]; *Riley v. California* (2014) U.S. [134 S.Ct.

2473, 189 L.Ed.2d 430].) Extending this warrant exception to searches that lack arrests would sever the exception from its underlying rationales.

Further, contrary to the lower courts' suggestions, determining whether Mr. Macabeo was under custodial arrest at the time of the search is determined objectively. There is no reason to recast this warrant exception into one based upon a hypothetical and not an actual arrest. Accepting the prosecution's invitation to expand this warrant exception would greatly increase the number of full custodial searches, erode privacy, and damage relationships between officers and communities.

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