In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

PAUL MACABEO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S221852

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 3 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B248316 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. YA084963 The Honorable Mark S. Arnold, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

in Rodriguez's vehicle. (*Ibid.*) The United States Supreme Court found that the dog-sniff evidence was unlawfully obtained, holding that an "otherwise-completed" traffic stop could not be extended in order to conduct a dog sniff (absent reasonable suspicion). (*Id.* at pp. 498-499.)

In reaching that conclusion, the Court cited with approval two of its prior decisions—*Illinois v. Caballes* (2005) 543 U.S. 405 [125 S.Ct. 834, 160 L.Ed.2d 842] and *Arizona v. Johnson* (2009) 555 U.S. 323 [129 S.Ct. 781, 172 L.Ed.2d 694]. (See *Rodriguez v. United States, supra,* 191 L.Ed.2d at p. 499.) In *Caballes*, the Court found the use of a drugdetention dog *during* a traffic stop (i.e., *while* the driver was still lawfully seized for the traffic violation) lawful. (*Illinois v. Caballes, supra,* 543 U.S. at p. 409.) In *Johnson*, the Court held that "[a]n officer's inquiries into matters unrelated to the justification for the traffic stop . . . do not convert the encounter into something other than a lawful seizure, so long as those inquiries do not measurably extend the duration of the stop. [Citation.]" (*Arizona v. Johnson, supra,* 555 U.S. at p. 333.)

Unlike *Rodriguez*, this case does not involve a traffic stop that was otherwise complete. Here, Detective Hayes had not issued appellant a citation when he searched him. As in *Caballes*, the traffic stop was ongoing when appellant was searched. And, as in *Johnson*, Detective Hayes's inquiries did not convert the encounter into something other than a lawful seizure, nor does appellant claim that they did; in fact, the inquiries did not "measurably extend the duration of the stop," and they were arguably *related* to the justification for the traffic stop (e.g., whether appellant was on probation or parole, his arrest history) because appellant's responses informed Detective Hayes about the possible level of dangerousness of his encounter with appellant.

Likewise, *Knowles v. Iowa* (1998) 525 U.S. 113 [119 S.Ct. 484, 142 L.Ed.2d 492], another case involving the post-citation conduct of an officer,

is inapplicable. (See AOB 19.) In *Knowles*, an officer conducted a traffic stop of Knowles for speeding. (Knowles v. Iowa, supra, at p. 114.) Although it was lawful under Iowa law for the officer to arrest Knowles, the officer issued him a citation. (Id. at pp. 114-115.) However, instead of releasing Knowles after issuing the citation, the officer conducted a full search of Knowles's car and found a bag of marijuana and a marijuana pipe. (Id. at p. 114.) The officer then arrested Knowles for possession of a controlled substance. (*Ibid.*) Knowles moved to suppress the evidence, arguing that the search-incident-to-arrest exception did not apply to him because he had been issued a citation and had not been arrested. (*Ibid.*) The United States Supreme Court agreed with Knowles and "refused to extend the search incident [to] arrest exception to the warrant requirement to include situations where an officer had probable cause to arrest, but instead only issued a traffic citation. [Citation.] The issue [in *Knowles*] was whether a search was permissible based on the issuance of citation rather than a formal arrest " (In re Lennies H. (2005) 126 Cal. App. 4th 1232, 1239, fn. 3; see *In re Arturo D.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 60, 75-76 ["[I]n Knowles—as the high court itself emphasized—the officer in that case already had issued the driver a citation . . . and thereafter had conducted an unrelated full-scale warrantless search for contraband. . . . [T]he court in *Knowles* addressed itself only to the question of allowing a full-scale warrantless search for contraband following the issuance of a traffic citation " (original italics)].) In contrast, this case does not involve a search incident to a citation because the search did not follow the issuance of a citation. Rather, the search was incident to an arrest justified by the traffic violation.

In sum, probable cause for the traffic violation supported appellant's arrest and, accordingly, Detective Hayes could search appellant incident to that arrest, consistent with the Fourth Amendment.

B. The search of appellant was lawful because the officers had probable cause to arrest appellant for the traffic infraction before the search and the search was substantially contemporaneous with the arrest

Next, the officers could lawfully search appellant before the arrest because they had probable cause to arrest him for the traffic infraction at the time of the search, and the search was substantially contemporaneous with the arrest. It is well settled that police officers may search an individual incident to a custodial arrest. (*United States v. Robinson, supra*, 414 U.S. at p. 235.) And it is not constitutionally significant that the search precedes the formal arrest, so long as probable cause to arrest exists before the search and the arrest follows "quickly on the heels" of the search. (*Rawlings v. Kentucky, supra*, 448 U.S. at p. 111.) That is the case here.

In *Rawlings*, police officers detained Rawlings and his friends inside the home of one of the friends as other officers sought a search warrant to search the home for drugs. (*Rawlings v. Kentucky, supra,* 448 U.S. at pp. 100-101, 106.) Once the search warrant was obtained, officers searched the purse of one of Rawlings's friends and found a sizable amount of controlled substances in the purse. (*Id.* at p. 101.) Rawlings immediately claimed ownership of the drugs. (*Ibid.*) The officers searched Rawlings and found \$4,500 in cash in his pocket, as well as a knife in a sheath. (*Ibid.*) The officers then arrested Rawlings. (*Ibid.*)

The United States Supreme Court stated that it had "no difficulty upholding this search [of Rawlings] as incident to [Rawlings's] formal arrest," even though the search preceded the arrest. (*Rawlings v. Kentucky, supra*, 448 U.S. at p. 111.) The Court's recognition of the applicability of the search-incident-to-arrest exception hinged on the finding of probable cause. (*Ibid.*) As the Court explained: "Once [Rawlings] admitted ownership of the sizable quantity of drugs found in [his friend's] purse, the police clearly had probable cause to place [Rawlings] under arrest." (*Ibid.*)

And because the officers had probable cause to believe that Rawlings possessed the drugs before they searched him, the officers could legally search Rawlings incident to arrest before the formal pronouncement of arrest. "Where the formal arrest followed quickly on the heels of the challenged search of [Rawlings's] person, we do not believe it particularly important that the search preceded the arrest rather than vice versa. [Citations.]" (*Ibid.*, fn. omitted.)

This Court has similarly recognized that a search incident to arrest may precede the arrest where the search is "substantially contemporaneous" with the arrest. (See *People v. Terry* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 410, 429 ["When probable cause to arrest exists at the outset, a search preceding the formality of a substantially contemporaneous arrest may be incident thereto [citation] . . ."]; *People v. Ingle* (1960) 53 Cal.2d 407, 413 ["Where an arrest is lawful the search thereto is not unlawful merely because it precedes rather than follows the arrest."].)

And the California Court of Appeal has adhered to the same rule. For example, in *People v. Gomez* (2004) 117 Cal.App.4th 531, a trafficstop case, the fact that the officers did not formally arrest Gomez until they discovered drugs in his car was irrelevant to the Fourth Amendment analysis because the officers had probable cause to arrest Gomez for both the traffic violation and drug possession at the time of the search. (*Id.* at pp. 534-536, 538-540; see *In re Lennies H., supra*, 126 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1239-1240 ["An officer with probable cause to arrest can search incident to the arrest before making the arrest. The fact that a defendant is not formally arrested until after the search does not invalidate the search if

⁸ Although appellant asserts that Rawlings was under arrest "seconds" after the search (AOB 20), there is no support for this assertion in the *Rawlings* opinion. (See *Rawlings v. Kentucky, supra,* 448 U.S. at p. 101.)

probable cause to arrest existed prior to the search and the search was substantially contemporaneous with the arrest." (citations, fn., & internal quotation marks omitted)]; People v. Avila (1997) 58 Cal. App. 4th 1069, 1076-1077 ["it is unimportant whether a search incident to an arrest precedes the arrest or vice versa"]; People v. Gonzales (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1185, 1189 ["If [the officer] had probable cause to believe [the defendant] possessed illegal drugs, the search and seizure are justifiable as incident to a lawful arrest. It matters not that they occurred before a formal arrest."]; People v. Fay (1986) 184 Cal.App.3d 882, 891-892 ["A search incident to an arrest may in fact precede the arrest. . . . The crucial point is whether probable cause to arrest existed prior to the search notwithstanding 'the fact that the officer does not have the state of mind [i.e., to make an arrest] which is hypothecated by the reasons which provide the legal justification for the officer's action.' [Citations.]"]; People v. Adams (1985) 175 Cal.App.3d 855, 861 [search made 10 minutes before arrest was substantially contemporaneous].)

The limit to this rule is "bootstrapping": when the search *itself* provides the only probable cause for the arrest. In *Smith v. Ohio* (1990) 494 U.S. 541 [110 S.Ct. 1288, 108 L.Ed.2d 464] (per curiam), the officers had no probable cause to arrest Smith. (*Id.* at p. 542.) Yet they searched a bag that he had been carrying, found drug paraphernalia inside, and arrested him. (*Ibid.*) The Ohio Supreme Court upheld the search as a search incident to arrest. (*Id.* at pp. 542-543.) The United States Supreme Court reversed and explained: "That reasoning . . 'justify[ing] the arrest by the search and at the same time . . . the search by the arrest,' just 'will not do.' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 543.) The Court made plain that the search incident to arrest exception "does not permit the police to search any citizen without a warrant or probable cause so long as an arrest immediately follows." (*Ibid.*; see *People v. Ingle, supra,* 53 Cal.2d at p. 413 ["The arrest is not

sought to be justified by what the search produced."].) Instead, probable cause to arrest must exist beforehand.

It did in this case. Detective Hayes and his partner had probable cause to arrest appellant for the traffic infraction. Because appellant was subject to arrest, he could be lawfully searched. (*United States v. Robinson, supra, 414 U.S.* at p. 235.) The fact that appellant was searched before he was formally arrested is irrelevant. (*Rawlings v. Kentucky, supra, 448 U.S.* at p. 111.) What is relevant is that probable cause to arrest existed before the search, and the search and arrest were substantially contemporaneous. (*Ibid.*)

Appellant asserts that, for his search to be lawful, he must have been "under arrest" or an arrest must have been "underway" when the search occurred. (AOB 16-22.) He argues that his search and arrest were unlawful under this rule because he, for example, was not told that he was under arrest, was not handcuffed, and/or was not transported to the patrol car before or during the search. (AOB 24-25.) Appellant's "under arrest or arrest underway" rule finds no support in *Rawlings* or any other United States Supreme Court jurisprudence. Appellant reads contingencies into *Rawlings* that are simply not in that opinion. *Rawlings* does not require that an individual be told that he is under arrest, be handcuffed, or be transported to the patrol car before or during the search for the rule in *Rawlings* to apply. Instead, *Rawlings* establishes that, where there is probable cause to arrest, a search can precede an arrest where the formal arrest follows "quickly on the heels of the challenged search." (*Rawlings* v. *Kentucky, supra,* 448 U.S. at p. 111.)

⁹ Appellant also quotes the high court's decision in *Robinson*, where the Court stated: "It is the fact of the lawful arrest which establishes the authority to search." (*United States v. Robinson, supra,* 414 U.S. at p. 235; (continued...)

The cases that appellant relies on to support his "under arrest or arrest underway" rule are easily distinguishable. In Commonwealth v. Washington (2007) 449 Mass. 476 [869 N.E.2d 605, 610], the officers released the defendant after the traffic stop and the search. (See AOB 35, 40.) There was no contemporaneous search and arrest at all. In fact, there is no indication in the opinion whether the arrest even occurred on the same day or in the same month as the search. Similarly, in Commonwealth v. Craan (2014) 469 Mass. 24 [13 N.E.3d 569, 572], the officers released the defendant after the search, which produced evidence of drugs and ammunition. 10 (See AOB 21-22.) In New York v. Evans (1977) 43 N.Y.2d 160 [371 N.E.2d 528, 529], the issue was "whether or not the existence of probable cause to arrest justifies a full search where the arrest was not made until one month after the search." (Italics added; see AOB 22.) Likewise, in Belote v. Maryland (2009) 411 Md. 104 [981 A.2d 1247, 1249, 1257], after the officer's contact with the defendant, the officer released the defendant and arrested him two months after their encounter. (See AOB 34-35.) In contrast, the search and arrest in this case took place within a 10-minute period of time (and appellant was not released before being searched).

^{(...}continued)

see also Gustafson v. Florida (1973) 414 U.S. 260, 266 [94 S.Ct. 488, 38 L.Ed.2d 456] [argued and decided with Robinson].) Appellant appears to suggest that the quotation stands for the proposition that there must be a formal arrest before there can be a search incident to arrest. (AOB 17.) If so, he reads too much into the quotation and, in any event, Rawlings subsequently made clear that a search incident to arrest may precede the formal custodial arrest.

¹⁰ In *Arizona v. Taylor* (1990) 167 Ariz. 439 [808 P.2d 324] (AOB 34) there does not appear to be any indication in the opinion that the defendant was subject to a full custodial arrest even after he was searched.

Citing the California Court of Appeal cases applying the rule in *Rawlings*, appellant states: "These cases differ from [appellant's] in that he was never arrested or charged for the traffic offense for which there was allegedly probable cause to arrest." (See AOB 22, fn. 12.) The implication of appellant's argument is that *Rawlings* would apply had he been arrested and charged for the traffic infraction, in addition to the possession of child pornography. But that would unreasonably elevate form over substance. The officers reasonably exercised their discretion not to pursue the infraction any further after they discovered the more serious offense. The officers' exercise of discretion to arrest appellant for the greater offense does not invalidate the search.

Moreover, appellant's search and arrest were substantially contemporaneous. (Cf. AOB 27 ["The transcript of the stop reports a 'long silence' during the search. The search and arrest were not 'so nearly simultaneous so as to constitute one event,' but were instead 'distinct occurrences." (citations omitted)].) Plainly, a search may precede an arrest, as long as the formal arrest follows "quickly on the heels of the challenged search." (Rawlings v. Kentucky, supra, 448 U.S. at p. 111.) Or, as California courts have said, a search may precede an arrest, as long as the search and arrest are "substantially contemporaneous." (People v. Terry, supra, 70 Cal.2d at p. 429 ["a search preceding the formality of a substantially contemporaneous arrest may be incident thereto. . . " (italics added)]; In re Lennies H., supra, 126 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1239-1240 ["The fact that a defendant is not formally arrested until after the search does not invalidate the search if probable cause to arrest existed prior to the search and the search was substantially contemporaneous with the arrest." (citations, fn., & internal quotation marks omitted, italics added)].)

To the extent appellant is now claiming that the search and arrest were not "substantially contemporaneous," the argument is forfeited by

appellant's failure to present it in the trial court. (*People v. Williams* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 119, 136.) If appellant wanted to know the precise number of minutes between the search and the arrest, he was obligated to place the prosecution on notice so that the People would have the opportunity to make that showing. [1] (*Ibid.*) In any event, even the limited record available here shows that the search and arrest of appellant were substantially contemporaneous because they were, at most, 10 minutes apart. (1CT 61-62, 77; see *People v. Adams, supra*, 175 Cal.App.3d at p. 861 [search made 10 minutes before arrest was substantially contemporaneous].)

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